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STATE OF MAINE REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS
RFP SUBMITTED QUESTIONS & ANSWERS SUMMARY
	RFP NUMBER AND TITLE:
	RFP# 202312242 – Statewide Office Supply Program

	RFP ISSUED BY:
	Department of Administrative and Financial Services

	SUBMITTED QUESTIONS DUE DATE:
	March 7, 2024, no later than 11:59 p.m., local time

	QUESTION & ANSWER SUMMARY ISSUED:
	March 20, 2024

	PROPOSAL DUE DATE:
	March 28, 2024, no later than 11:59 p.m., local time

	PROPOSALS DUE TO:
	Proposals@maine.gov


Provided below are submitted written questions received and the Department’s answer.
	1
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	N/A
	Would it be possible to share with us your current pricing.

	
	Answer

	
	No. The Department expects bidders to provide their most competitive pricing in response to the RFP. 


	2
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	N/A
	What is the quantity for each toner?

	
	Answer

	
	The quantity for each toner is listed in the embedded Excel Spreadsheet in the RFP on the third tab in Column D.


	3
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	N/A
	a. Paper size / each size? 
b. Weight / all weights?
c. Colors of paper?
d. Need a list of the skews

	
	Answer

	
	Paper information can be found on the second tab of the embedded spreadsheet in the RFP. Item Descriptions can be found in Column A of each tab, this includes the paper size, color, and weight. Respective Stock/Item Numbers can be found in Column C. 


	4
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	N/A
	Breakroom supplies/stirrers/sweeteners/coffee?

	
	Answer

	
	Per the RFP, Part II, Section A., 2: The resulting contract(s) will be for office supplies, toner, and paper only.


	5
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	N/A
	Does my company need to carrier the commercial insurance policy?  Or do i need to provide the manufacturer's insurance with bid submission?

	
	Answer

	
	As noted on page 14 of the RFP in section II, part 6.:

6. Certificate of Insurance  
Bidders must provide a certificate of insurance on a standard ACORD form (or the equivalent) evidencing the Bidder’s general liability, professional liability and any other relevant liability insurance policies that might be associated with the proposed services. 


	6
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	N/A
	Would like to request a copy of your HP BIG DEAL PRICING in order to give you the most competitive pricing

	
	Answer

	
	The Department expects bidders to provide their most competitive pricing in response to the RFP.


	7
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	N/A
	Can we use more than one Discount on items not included on the core list. We would like to suggest Category Discounts.

	
	Answer

	
	Yes, as noted on page 15 of the RFP in section IV, part 3.: For all items or equivalents that are not part of the core list of items, the State of Maine seeks to purchase the goods according to a discount percentage from the Bidder’s catalog list price. The Bidder must complete the secondary tables in each category being proposed in Appendix E that clearly describes the category structure listed in its standard office supply catalog, and the discounts from list price offered to the State of Maine for each category.


	8
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Page 14, Section III 2.  Video Demo
	What is the maximum duration allowed for the video demo?

	
	Answer

	
	The Department expects bidders to provide a video demo that is concise, but details all steps required when placing an order. 


	9
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Page 15, 3.  Objective of the Cost Proposal
	Would you consider receiving various discounts based on categories instead of a single discount applicable to all categories?

	
	Answer

	
	Please see response to Question 7. 


	10
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Page 20, A1. Contract Document
	Which documents will be required as part of the resulting contract?  We see several documents and aim to clarify which ones are encompassed.

	
	Answer

	
	The resulting contract will include the Appendix E Cost Proposal and may include any other elements of the bidder’s proposal necessary to make a master agreement contract. 


	11
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Page 15, Section IV, 3
	To assist the State of Maine in achieving it’s goal of “substantial cost savings” would the State consider changing the timing of paper increases to every 6 months vs. annual?  If left at 12 months, suppliers will need to quote a higher initial price to build in potential volatility in the market.  The State of Maine will begin the contract at a higher price and the market volatility may or may not occur- including an announcement of an unexpected paper increase from all 3 major paper manufacturers announced just this month.  

	
	Answer

	
	The Division expects the vendor with whom the state establishes a master agreement to hold all unit prices for one year. The vendor may propose more frequent price changes, which may or may not be accepted, at the discretion of the Division. 


	12
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Page 20, B.2
	When using P-Card, are suppliers required to allow payment to invoice (Net 30)?

	
	Answer

	
	Our standard expectation is that when a procurement card is used, the State will issue an invoice payment within 20 days to receive a payment term discount. As noted in the RFP on page 16: State of Maine Procurement Card is required in order to incentivize the use of efficient P-Card payments among State agencies.


	13
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Page 8, Part 2, A.2
	Can you provide a list of current restricted product categories from the current provider?

	
	Answer

	
	No, restricted product categories are not available to view on the current provider’s site. Examples of restricted items are batteries and other commodity categories already covered under current master agreements with other providers.


	14
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, Section D. (Number of Awards), Page 7
	Just to confirm our understanding of the RFP language as contained in the references bid section, is the State's intent to make three separate awards, one each for Office Supplies, Toner, and Paper?

	
	Answer

	
	Three separate awards will be made. They can go to one or multiple bidders, whichever is in the best interest of the State. Bidders proposing to provide more than one category of service must submit a single proposal with all categories addressed within. 


	15
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part III, Section C.2. (Delivery Instructions), Page 11
	In the event that a bidder's submission contains multiple attachments, can/will the State accept a proposal with all of those separate files submitted in a single zip file, or must submissions be submitted with all attachments contained separately in the submission E-mail?  We ask this because we are aware that some E-mail servers automatically discard zip files upon receipt for security purposes.

	
	Answer

	
	The State will accept proposals that include .zip files, however, the file size limit is 25 MB per email.


	16
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section II (Organizational Qualifications and Experience), subsection 5 (Financial Viability), Page 14
	By "past three tax years", does the State mean its Fiscal Year (July 1 through June 30), or calendar year?  Would this information for the calendar years 2023, 2022, and 2021 be acceptable to the State?

	
	Answer

	
	This means the bidder’s past three tax years, not calendar or fiscal years. It would be acceptable to submit three years’ worth of tax information for 2021-2023


	17
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section IV (Cost Proposal), subsection 3.b., Page 16
	Can the State provide some specifics as to what it considers to be an "equivalent substitute of matching specifications and quality"?  For example, would a remanufactured toner be considered an "equivalent substitute of matching specifications and quality" for an OEM toner?  Would a private supplier brand or label item be considered by the State to be an "equivalent substitute of matching specifications and quality" for a manufacturer brand item?  For example, would the State consider a supplier's private label sticky note be considered by the State to be an "equivalent substitute of matching specifications and quality" for a 3M Post-It brand?  Another example would be, would the State consider a supplier's private label perforated writing pad be considered by the state to be an "equivalent substitute of matching specifications and quality" for an Ampad branded perf pad?  A third example would be address labels.  Avery makes both its "Easy Peel" line of address labels as well as its "PRES-a-ply" value brand version of labels in various sizes.  The PRES-a-ply version functions basically equivalently to the "Easy Peel" brand but does not contain the Easy Peel's trademarked "Sure Feed" technology, nor is it made with paper made from wood from a certified managed forest, as the "Easy Peel" branded labels are.  Thus, would the State consider the PRES-a-ply brand to be an "equivalent substitute of matching specifications and quality" to the Easy Peel?  We ask these questions because determining what constitutes an "equivalent" is by nature subjective and we want to ensure that submit a proposal that is in all ways consistent with the goals, objectives, and best interest of the State.

	
	Answer

	
	The Division will accept bids for equivalent or approved equal products, meaning products that meet or exceed all of the technical specifications of the product requested. The Division will make the final decision on equivalency. A remanufactured toner would not be considered an approved equal to a new toner from an original equipment manufacturer (OEM). A supplier’s brand name is generally considered irrelevant and not taken into consideration when determining equivalency. The Division will conduct an objective, fact-based evaluation to confirm whether a product is indeed equivalent. 


	18
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section IV (Cost Proposal), subsection 3 (Objective of the Cost Proposal) Page 16
	We are looking for clarification as to what precisely the State is seeking as regarding the pricing arrangement outside of the Core item listing.  If we’re reading this section of the bid (combined with the relevant associated language contained in Appendix E), the State is looking for discounting from Manufacturer’s List Price by category for items and categories contained in bidder’s standard catalog, and then, as noted on the ”Other Items (Discount)” tab of Appendix E, a discount from bidder’s online sell price for all items not contained within the bidder’s standard catalog.  Is that understanding correct on our part?

	
	Answer

	
	The expectation is that for items outside the core list, the bidder will categorize those items and designate a percentage discount for each individual category. The bidder should list each category and discount for that category in the Other Items tab of the Appendix E cost proposal form. As noted on page 15 of the RFP in section IV, part 3.: For all items or equivalents that are not part of the core list of items, the State of Maine seeks to purchase the goods according to a discount percentage from the Bidder’s catalog list price. The Bidder must complete the secondary tables in each category being proposed in Appendix E that clearly describes the category structure listed in its standard office supply catalog, and the discounts from list price offered to the State of Maine for each category.


	19
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Appendix E Cost Proposal Form, Page 28
	Of the 1,000 items across the State's three separate bid lists (Office Supplies, Paper, Toner), forty seven of them have been discontinued by the manufacturer.  Those items are as follows:  

Office Supplies:

SAF4151CH, DURMN24RT12Z, GOJ965212. AAGSD38513, IVR77990, HEWCB385A, HEWCB387A, HEWCB386A, PANUG5590, PFX48420, HEWL0R39AN, HEW3YP21AN, FEL98915, DYM1752265, DYM1752264, MSD5KV00001, FEL7703201, BICCSCF11BK, WBM5012523, SWI1770045, SWI1757577, DYM16953, AND RAC99118

Paper:  CASMP2201GRP, CASMP2204BE, CASMP2201BE, CASMP2201GN, CASMP2201PK, CASMP2201SN, CASMP2201CY

Toner:  HEWQ5942X, HEWCF340A, HEWCC364XD, HEWC9720A, HEWC9721A, HEWQ7581A, HEWCB381A, HEWCB380A, HEWQ1338A, HEWCB400A, HEWCB401A, HEWCB403A, HEWCB383A, PANUG5591, HEWQ7583A, HEWC9723A, HEWC9722A

For these items, would the State direct bidders to bid alternates/equivalents for these items (with the understanding that remanufactured toners would be bid for discontinued OEM toners) or would the State prefer to remove the items from the bid lists?  

	
	Answer

	
	


	20
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section III, Subsection 2 (Video Demo)
	Any video that we submit in an email is going to be a very large file and quite possibly too large to submit via email.  Would the State accept any alternative method to an email of the video (Link to video on vendor website, Link to a YouTube page, submission in person via flash drive, etc.)

	
	Answer

	
	Proposals must be submitted electronically to: Proposals@maine.gov. It would be acceptable to include a link to the video where it is posted on a publicly visible platform, i.e. Youtube.


	21
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part III, Section C.2.f2 “File 4”, Page 12
	Please confirm that the desired format of Excel applies to the submission of the bidder’s standard catalog.

	
	Answer

	
	Per the RFP, Excel format is preferred. 


	22
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	N/A
	Will any preference be given to bidders with physical locations in the State of Maine?

	
	Answer

	
	No.
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